FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 12/20/2019 10:37 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/20/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Replaces petition for review filed at the COA on 12/19/19

97995-2

No. 51455-9-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KEITH DAHL, Appellant,

v.

GINA M FINO, PACIFIC NORTHWEST FORENSIC PATHOLOGISTS, Respondents.

AMENDED
PETITION FOR REVIEW

NOAH DAVIS, WSBA #30939 Attorney for KEITH DAHL, Appellant IN PACTA PLLC 33530 1st Way S, Ste 102 Federal Way WA 98003 206-709-8281 nd@inpacta.com

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Keith Dahl (Keith) respectfully requests that the Supreme Court accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review as designated in Part B of this Petition. Keith was the Plaintiff in the trial court and initially the Respondent on appeal. He is the father of his deceased child for which this case and appeal is based.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Keith seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision dated September 10, 2019, which reversed the trial court's denial of a motion for summary judgment (filed by Dr. Gina M. Fino and Pacific Northwest Forensic Pathologists ("Fino" and "PNFP") A copy of the Court of Appeals decision is attached in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-13. A timely Motion for Reconsideration was filed with the Court of Appeals on September 30, 2019 and after "Calling for a Response" on October 8, 2019, the Court of Appeals ultimately denied the Motion for Reconsideration on November 19, 2019. A copy of the Order Denying Reconsideration is attached in the Appendix at page A-14.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW¹

¹ An issue not raised in this Petition for Review as it was not decided by Division II is whether a private doctor performing an autopsy at the direction of a County coroner is entitled to immunity from any and all civil claims (liability) regardless of whether she engages in gross negligence or even intentional or abusive conduct unrelated to the

- No. 1 Whether Washington should adopt the <u>Restatement (Second)</u> of Torts §868 (1979) and recognize a claim for negligent interference with a corpse; and if not, whether the facts here are sufficient to at least create an inference of intentional interference sufficient to survive summary judgment.
- No. 2 Whether Washington should modify its law on the tort of negligent infliction of emotional distress to allow the "dead body" exception.
- No. 3 Whether the father of a deceased may bring a claim for professional negligence against a county coroner (or, as here, a private physician acting in that capacity) for the method and actions that were used prior to and after determining the cause of death or whether the Public Duty doctrine shields the coroner from liability²
- No. 4 Whether the Public Duty doctrine is contrary to the Washington Constitution and the waiver of sovereign immunity.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Events leading up to Death and ensuing Autopsy

de

determination of cause of death. If Fino and/or PNPF raise this issue in an Answer, then the Petitioner will file a Reply addressing that issue (and any other newly raised issue).

Although the "Public Duty doctrine" defense was not raised in the trial court), the Court of Appeals made it a substantive part of its decision despite it <u>also</u> not having been discussed during the appellate oral arguments. And as stated in the Motion for Reconsideration, the Court of Appeals was missing the necessary record (from Plaintiff) to properly decide this issue (which is part of the point of having this issue raised in the trial court). (See Motion for Reconsideration A15-25)

On September 13, 2015, Brandon Dahl (Brandon) was arrested and booked in the Mason County Jail. CP 13 At first he was housed in solitary confinement. CP 13, 328 However, after he angered a jailer, he was moved by jail staff to a cell shared with other prisoners for an "attitude adjustment". CP 2, 13, 328 Some of the prisoners in that cell were known to have already attacked other prisoners. CP 2, 13, 359

While confined, the same three inmates that had attacked other inmates, now attacked Brandon, resulting in serious physical injury, including cranial contusions and hemorrhaging CP 13-16 Jail staff then transferred Brandon back to solitary confinement without providing medical care. CP 13 Three days after his arrest, on September 16, 2016, Brandon was dead. CP 3, 13, 359 The Mason County Jail (and coroner) alleged the death to be as a result of suicide by hanging. (A1-13 at A2-3)

2. Dr. Fino's Autopsy

Mason County chose to retain an outside coroner for the autopsy; and pursuant to RCW 68.50.106, requested Fino (of PNFPs) to conduct the examination. (A1-13 at A3) On September 17, 2015, Fino dissected the body and internal organs, including the brain and determined the cause of death to be asphyxia by hanging and that the death was suicide. (*Id.*) After Fino closed the body, the Mason County coroner released Brandon's body to his family for burial. (*Id.*)

3. Second Autopsy

Keith Dahl, Brandon's father, then arranged for a second autopsy with Dr. Bennet Omalu. (*Id.*) Dr. Omalu's report strongly criticized the work and report of Fino and opined that Fino had mutilated Brandon's brain to such a degree as to make a finding of the cause of death impossible, as she had "pulverized, with near complete obliteration of the anatomic detail." CP 3, 6, 20, 40-41, 185-187, 200, 221-222 The "residual brain had been previously prosected in an irregular [and] indiscernible fashion." CP 40

Among the major missteps were Fino's failure to save Brandon's brain in the stock tissue (CP 4, 20, 200, 366), failure to take autopsy tissue histology slides and paraffin tissue blocks (CP 4, 146, 186), failure to photograph (or record) the autopsy and failure to perform a post-mortem radiological evaluation of Brandon's body. CP 19, 186, 365 Fino also failed to wait for toxicological analysis before completing her report, an analysis which is "a vital and indispensable component of a complete forensic autopsy." CP 18, 186, 364

This was no normal autopsy. In fact, it was the worst autopsy Dr. Omalu had ever seen. CP 124, 187, 305 Fino had failed to follow the most basic protocols and procedures for an autopsy. No ligature (i.e. means of death) accompanied the body for autopsy, nor was any described in the

autopsy report. CP 14 Nor did Dr. Fino perform any correlation between the missing ligature and the alleged ligature-indentation marks. *Id.* She also failed to perform any histological or microscopic examinations, (CP 16), and where Dr. Fino had identified only six external injuries to the body, Dr. Omalu was able to identify 20. CP 124

There are standards of practice, even in an autopsy. Standards of practice that Fino was required to follow but which Fino "grossly deviated" from. CP 18-20 Indeed, she exhibited "a pattern of deviations that critically undermines the validity and accurateness of the autopsy in this case as a methodology of science." CP 20

4. Keith Dahl files suit

Based on Dr. Omalu's findings, Brandon's father Keith filed suit against Fino and her employer (PNFP). Keith Dahl made claims for professional negligence, misuse of a corpse, and intentional and negligent infliction of emotional distress. In response, Fino and PNFP moved for summary judgment dismissal of all claims, asserting immunity from civil liability under RCW 68.50.015, and asserting that Keith Dahl could not make a prima facie case for his claims. The trial court denied the Motion

This is a summary judgment motion which means the Court has to look at the facts in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party; and if there are any material issues of fact, then it defeats the summary judgment motion . . . Counsel for the moving party relied on RCW 68.50.015 which we read into the record, and this statute makes it very

clear that a county coroner or medical examiner or persons acting in that capacity shall be immune from civil liability for determining the cause and manner of death. If the Legislature wanted this statute to be as broad as the moving party asserts, then they would have basically said so . . . I would have to agree with the nonmoving party that RCW 68.50.015 is very limited circumstances with particular civil liability that immunes the coroner, and that defeats the summary judgment motion because the nonmoving party has raised a number of material issues of fact and only one is needed.

(Pierce County Superior Court, Summary Judgment Hearing: RP 23-24)

The Defendants/Respondents appealed, however, and were successful in convincing Division II that their summary judgment should have been granted. (A1-14) This Petition for Review now follows.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The Petition for Review should be accepted because at least one if not two of the four bases for review under RAP 13.4(b) are present:

The Petition for Review involves issues of significant and substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court (RAP 13.4(b)(4)) (¶¶ 1,2,3,4) (with respect to recognizing the tort of Negligent Interference with a Corpse; clarifying, modifying or limiting the Public Duty doctrine (and aligning it with the legislatures' waiver of sovereign immunity); and updating and modernizing the prior limitations of "presence" or "zone of danger" to recognize a "dead body" exception for infliction of emotional distress);

The decision of the Court of Appeals is (arguably) in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court (RAP 13.4(b)(1)) (¶¶3-4) (with respect to the Public Duty Doctrine and Justice Chambers' concurrence in *Munich v*. *Skagit Emerg. Comm'n Ctr.*, 175 Wn.2d 871, 288 P.3d 328 (2012)

The paragraph numbers cited above (for these bases for review) correspond to the paragraphs numbered below.

Keith Dahl's claim for Intentional or Negligent Misuse of a Corpse

Although this claim was not foreclosed by the public duty doctrine (discussed infra), the Court of Appeals nevertheless held as a matter of law that Keith Dahl failed to support the tort of intentional misuse of a corpse and concluded that Washington law does not recognize a claim for negligent misuse of corpse.

A claim for intentional misuse of a corpse is an intentional tort based on an interest in the proper treatment of a corpse and allowing recovery for the plaintiff's mental suffering 'directly result[ing] from a willful wrong and not merely a negligent act.' Whitney v. Cervantes...'Washington law does not recognize an action for negligent interference with a dead body.' Whitney... Our Supreme Court has explicitly declined the opportunity to expand the cause of action to include negligent conduct. Adams v. King County.. (noting that it had not adopted the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 868 (1979), which permits liability for negligent interference with a corpse, and had previously 'rejected a claim of negligent misuse because recovery is premised on mental suffering').

(Ct App A1-13 at 10) (full cites omitted)

i. Intentional Misuse of a Corpse

While the Court of Appeals found no intentional conduct by Fino to mutilate (or unnecessarily and excessively or grossly interfere with) a corpse, the evidence suggests otherwise as Dr. Omalu did in fact offer evidence through his medical opinion that Fino had intentionally mistreated (or mutilated) Brandon's brain in a manner other than just dissecting it for purposes of an autopsy. The "residual brain had been previously prosected [dissection of a human corpse] in an irregular [and] indiscernible fashion." CP 40-41 (emphasis added). There was "nearcomplete obliteration of the anatomic detail." CP 41 The brain had been pulverized. CP 41 These are not the normal sequences of an autopsy. And, Fino failed to follow the most basic protocols and procedures for an autopsy. No ligature – supposedly the means of death – accompanied the body for autopsy. CP 14 Nor was any described in the autopsy report. *Id*. Nor, did Fino perform any correlation between the missing ligature and the alleged ligature-indentation marks. Id. Nor did she perform any histological or microscopic examinations. CP 16 She failed to preserve Brandon's brain in stock tissue. CP 20 She failed to photograph the autopsy. CP 19 She failed to wait for a toxicological analysis before completing her report. CP 18. And where she identified only six external injuries to the body, Dr. Omalu identified 20. CP 18 In simple fact, this was the worst autopsy – if indeed you can call it that – Dr. Omalu had ever seen. CP 124 There are standards of practice that Fino was required to follow. CP 18-20 Fino committed "gross deviations" from those standards. CP 19 Indeed, she exhibited "a pattern of deviations that critically undermine[d] the validity and accurateness of the autopsy in this case as a methodology of science." CP 20 Finally, and despite a statutory requirement to do so (RCW 68.50.105(3)), Fino refused to cooperate with the second doctor to perform the second autopsy. CP 121-22, 187, 302-03

These facts, taken all together, and viewed in the light most favorable to Dahl – as the trial court did – established that genuine issues of material fact exist on whether Fino intentionally³ mutilated Brandon's brain to prevent a second opinion and prevent judicial review (as set forth in the statute: RCW 68.50.015)⁴

ii. Negligent Interference with a corpse

Although the above facts provide evidence of intentional conduct, it also time for Washington to adopt the Restatement (Second) of Torts §868 (1979) and recognize a claim for negligent interference with a corpse

³ Intentional conduct can also be non-actions or willful and wanton misconduct. See *Jones v. United States*, 693 F.3d 1299 (9th Cir. 1982)

⁴ And at page 11 of its opinion (A-11), the Court of Appeals appears to shift the burden on summary judgment to the non-moving party (Keith Dahl) to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that Dr. Fino intentionally misused a corpse. This shifting of the burden also failed give every reasonable inference to Keith Dahl in defending the summary judgment. Certainly taken together, a reasonable juror could infer intent (intent to mutilate, to not document the destruction of evidence, and to prevent a 2nd autopsy challenge to her findings (and judicial review thereof).

as have more than 20 other States, and as was recently discussed by the Illinois Supreme Court.

As we already have discussed, interference with the right to possess a decedent's remains is a distinct and independent tort that has a settled place in Illinois jurisprudence. It arises from the next of kin's commonlaw right to possess and make appropriate disposition of a decedent's remains and from the correlative duty not to interfere wrongfully with that right. And while the plaintiff in such cases is entitled to recover damages for the mental suffering that is proximately caused by the defendant's misconduct, the actionable wrong in such cases is the interference with the plaintiff's right to possess the decedent's remains, not the infliction of the resulting mental distress. In this sense, tortious interference with the right to possess a corpse is analogous to wrongful birth, where the infliction of emotional distress is not itself the wrong that was committed but rather is part and parcel of the damage that results from the wrong that was committed. Accordingly, just as we have concluded that parents in a wrongful birth case may recover damages for the resulting emotional distress, we likewise conclude that such damages are recoverable in cases involving negligent interference with the right to possess a corpse.

In reaching this result, we note that today's decision brings Illinois into conformity with what has emerged both as the blackletter standard and as the majority rule among courts that have addressed this issue directly. As the appellate court below correctly recognized, while section 868 of the first Restatement of Torts suggested that the recovery of emotional distress damages in cases like this required proof of wilful and wanton misconduct (Restatement of Torts, § 868 (1939)), the second restatement now makes clear that such recovery is available upon proof of ordinary negligence:

'One who intentionally, recklessly or negligently removes, withholds, mutilates or operates upon the body of a dead person or prevents its proper interment or cremation is subject to liability to a member of the family of the deceased who is entitled to the disposition of the body.'...

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 868 (1979)

This point is reiterated in the comments to section 868, which stress that '(t)he rule stated in this Section applies not only to an intentional interference with the body itself or with its proper burial or cremation, but also to an interference that is reckless or merely negligent.'
Restatement (Second) of Torts § 868 cmt. d (1979). In similar fashion, the most recent edition of Prosser and Keeton on Torts explains the following with respect to claims involving the mishandling of a corpse:

'(T)he traditional rule has denied recovery for mere negligence, without circumstances of aggravation. There are by now, however, a series of cases allowing recovery for negligent embalming, negligent shipment, running over the body, and the like, without such circumstances of aggravation. What all of these cases appear to have in common is an especial likelihood of genuine and serious mental distress, arising from the special circumstances, which serves as a guarantee that the claim is not spurious. Where the guarantee can be found, and the mental distress is undoubtedly real and serious, there may be no good reason to deny recovery.'

Prosser and Keeton on the Law of Torts § 54, at 362 (W. Page Keeton et al. eds., 5th ed. 1984).

Cochran v. Securitas Sec. Servs. USA, Inc., 2017 IL 121200, 93 N.E.3d 493, 502-503 (Ill. 2017)⁵ (emphasis added)

If not willful and wanton and rising to the level of intentional conduct, Fino's actions were nevertheless negligent (if not grossly so) and the Supreme Court of Washington should adopt the Restatement (Second) of Torts, recognize the tort of Negligent Interference with a Corpse and remand this case to the trial court.⁶

-

⁵ Cf Cochran v. Securitas Sec. Servs. USA, Inc., 59 N.E.3d 234, 405 Ill.Dec. 941 (Ill. App. 2016) (discussing the evolution of the law relating to the negligent mishandling of a corpse, including the change in the Restatement (Second) of Torts and citing to approximately 20 jurisdictions that now permit recovery in cases involving the alleged negligent mishandling of a decedent's body without circumstances of aggravation).

2. Washington law on Intentional and/or Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress should be modified to permit an exception when involving a corpse.

The intentional tort of outrage, also known as intentional infliction of emotional distress, includes three elements: "(1) extreme and outrageous conduct, (2) intentional or reckless infliction of emotional distress, and (3) actual result to plaintiff of severe emotional distress." Kloepfel v. Bokor,.... Negligent infliction of emotional distress includes the "established concepts of duty, breach, proximate cause, and damage or injury." Hunsley v. Giard,... To establish a prima facie case for either cause of action, the plaintiff must be present at the time of the alleged conduct at issue. Reid v. Pierce County, ...(holding that plaintiffs who were not present when employees of a medical examiner's office engaged in arguably outrageous conduct could not maintain cause of action for either intentional or negligent infliction of emotional distress). It is undisputed that Dahl was not present when Fino conducted the autopsy of Brandon's body; therefore, he has no cause of action for either intentional or negligent infliction of emotional distress under well-established case law.

(Ct App A1-13 at A12) (internal cites omitted)

While the Court of Appeals was correct in applying the law to this claim, our law is wrong. And with the evolving norms and decency of society the public deserves a modification and update to our jurisprudence. Some more than twenty years have passed since the court's decision in *Reid v. Pierce County, supra*. And in the intervening time, the Restatement (Third) of Torts §48 (2012) has adopted a modified approach:

An actor who negligently causes sudden serious bodily injury to a third person is subject to liability for serious emotional harm caused thereby to a person who:

12

⁶ Protection of these rights, and our loved ones are matter of substantial public concern, affecting nearly every single Washington resident. (RAP 13.4(b)(4))

- (a) perceives the event contemporaneously, and
- (b) is a close family member of the person suffering the bodily injury.

The Restatement (Third) of Torts § 47 (2012) also provides for recovery for emotional harm even absent bodily injury or the risk thereof:

An actor whose negligent conduct causes serious emotional harm to another is subject to liability to the other if the conduct:

- (a) places the other in danger of immediate bodily harm and the emotional harm results from the danger; or
- (b) occurs in the course of specified categories of activities, undertakings, or relationships in which negligent conduct is especially likely to cause serious emotional harm.

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