FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/21/2020 11:48 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 97995-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KEITH DAHL,

Petitioner,

v.

GINA M. FINO; PACIFIC NORTHWEST FORENSIC PATHOLOGISTS,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jennifer D. Koh, WSBA #25464
Michele C. Atkins, WSBA #32435
Attorneys for Respondents
FAIN ANDERSON VANDERHOEF ROSENDAHL
O'HALLORAN SPILLANE, PLLC
701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4750
Seattle, WA 98104
(206) 749-0094

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Mr. Dahl cites RAP 13.4(b)(1) in seeking review of Division II's decision on his professional negligence claim, and RAP 13.4(b)(4) in seeking review of its decision on all four of his claims. *See Pet.* at 6, 7, 12, 17. Because Division II's decision is not in conflict with any decision of this Court so as to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and does not involve any issue of substantial public interest as to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4), Mr. Dahl's petition for review should be denied.

A. The Decision of the Court of Appeals as to Mr. Dahl's Professional Negligence Claim Is Not in Conflict with Any Decision of this Court.

Mr. Dahl claims, *Pet.* at 7, that Division II's decision is in conflict with the concurring opinion of Justice Chambers in *Munich v. Skagit Emergency Commc'ns Ctr.*, 175 Wn.2d 871, 885-95, 288 P.3d 328 (2012), regarding the public duty doctrine, which he claims, "creates special immunities and privileges" contrary to the legislature's waiver of sovereign immunity as well as the Washington Constitution, *Pet.* at 2, 20 & n.10. However, Mr. Dahl fails to explain his claim, offer any cogent argument, or identify anything in Division II's analysis or holding that conflicts with any statement in the *Munich* concurrence or majority opinion or any other opinion of this Court addressing the public duty doctrine. *See Pet.* at 1-20.

Division II's decision is not in conflict with, but rather is based upon, several of this Court's decisions on the use of the public duty doctrine

as a focusing tool to evaluate the essential element of duty required to establish an actionable negligence claim. *Slip Op.* at 5-8. As the concurring opinion in *Munich* makes clear, the public duty doctrine is not "a tort of its own imposing a duty on any government that gives assurances to someone," nor "some sort of broad limit on all governmental duties," but "simply a tool" used "to ensure that governments are not saddled with greater liability than private actors as they conduct the people's business." *Munich*, 175 Wn.2d at 886 (J. Chambers, concurring). Here, Division II properly used the public duty doctrine as "a focusing tool" to determine whether Mr. Dahl met his burden of establishing that Dr. Fino owed a duty to him individually, rather than to the public at large during the statutorily authorized dissection of the body, which "was a governmental function performed for a public purpose." *Slip Op.* at 6-7. Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

B. The Proper Application of Existing Washington Law to All Four of Mr. Dahl's Claims by the Court of Appeals Does Not Involve Any Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

In his petition for review, Mr. Dahl asks this Court to overturn its precedent and create new law regarding intentional misuse of a corpse, *Pet*. at 9-11, intentional and negligent infliction of emotional distress, *Pet*. at 12-

⁵ This is consistent with the lead opinion in *Munich*, signed by eight justices, that used the public duty doctrine as a focusing tool to determine whether the plaintiff showed that the County, in carrying out specific duties mandated by statute, "owed a duty to a nebulous public" or to the plaintiff. *Munich*, 175 Wn.2d at 878 & n.2 (internal quotations omitted).

-10-

_

14, and the public duty doctrine, *Pet.* at 20. This Court has stated that it "will not overturn precedent without either 'a clear showing than an established rule is incorrect and harmful,' or a clear showing that the legal underpinnings of the precedent have been eroded." *Pendergrast v. Matichuk*, 186 Wn.2d 556, 565, 379 P.3d 96 (2016) (first quoting *In re Rights to Waters of Stranger Creek*, 77 Wn.2d 649, 653 466 P.2d 508 (1970); and then citing *W.G. Clark Constr. Co. v. Pac. Nw. Reg'l Council of Carpenters*, 180 Wn.2d 54, 66, 322 P.3d 1207 (2014)). Mr. Dahl does not acknowledge this rule in his petition and does not make either showing for any of his requests to overturn precedent.

Mr. Dahl also fails to explain how the summary judgment dismissal of his claims under the unique and limited circumstances of this case involves any issue of public interest. This Court should deny review.

1. Mr. Dahl fails to show any basis for overturning precedent as to intentional misuse of a corpse and nothing in the facts of this case warrants its extension to negligent conduct.

Mr. Dahl claims, *Pet.* at 9-12, it is "time" for this Court to adopt the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 868 (1979) and recognize a cause of action for negligent misuse of a corpse. In a footnote, *Pet.* at 12 n.6, he claims, without explanation, that such a cause of action is a "matter of substantial public concern, affecting nearly every single Washington resident." Rather than identifying any incorrect and harmful aspect of Washington law or

discussing any of the underpinnings of Washington precedent, Mr. Dahl merely (1) points out that "more than 20" other states recognize a cause of action for negligent misuse of a corpse, and (2) provides a two-page block quote from an opinion of the Illinois Supreme Court addressing "Illinois jurisprudence." *Pet.* at 10-11.

This Court need not look to Illinois or any other state for direction on this issue, because it has repeatedly declined to recognize a cause of action for negligent misuse of a corpse. In Adams v. King County, 164 Wn.2d 640, 657 n.9, 192 P.3d 891 (2008), this Court refused to revisit its holding in *Gadbury v. Bleitz*, 133 Wash. 134, 136, 233 P. 299 (1925), that the tort of misuse of a corpse was limited to circumstances involving a "wilful wrong" because "recovery is premised on mental suffering." In Adams, the plaintiff alleged that the medical examiner, while conducting an autopsy on the body of a young man who died suddenly and unexpectedly, retained the brain and various tissue and blood samples for donation to a research organization without permission of the family of the deceased. Adams, 164 Wn.2d at 645-47. In analyzing the plaintiff's claim for misuse of a corpse, this Court described the tort as allowing "recovery for mental suffering derived from willful misuse of a body," and clarified that the "action is not based on a property interest in the body itself, but rather an interest in the proper treatment of the body." *Id.* at 658. As stated by this

Court in *Wright v. Beardsly*, 46 Wash. 16, 19, 89 P. 172 (1907), "[T]he action is for a wrong against the feelings of the plaintiffs inflicted by the wrongful and improper burial of their dead."

In *Adams*, the plaintiff asked this Court to adopt the Restatement, "presumably to include claims of negligence," but failed to demonstrate "why the facts of this case warrant extension of the tort to cover negligent conduct." *Adams*, 164 Wn.2d at 657 n.9. Further, the Court observed that similar claims of negligence would likely be covered by the immunity provision of the Washington Uniform Anatomical Gift Act. *Id*.

Here, Mr. Dahl fails to acknowledge or address the potential differences between the Illinois court's view of the basis of the action as a possessory right rather than the infliction of emotional distress, *see Pet.* at 10, and this Court's focus on the wrong against the feelings of persons with an interest in the proper treatment of a body, *see Adams*, 164 Wn.2d at 658. And, he fails to identify anything in this Court's analysis that should be revisited since it decided *Adams*.

Similarly, Mr. Dahl fails to demonstrate that the facts of this case warrant extension of the tort to negligent conduct. Despite Mr. Dahl's expansive description of Dr. Omalu's criticisms of other aspects of Dr. Fino's performance of the autopsy, *see Pet.* at 8-9, the only allegation relevant to a claim of misuse of a corpse is the condition of the brain

following Dr. Fino's statutorily authorized dissection of that single organ.⁶ Although Mr. Dahl claims, without citation to the record, that the details in Dr. Omalu's description of the condition of the brain following the initial dissection "are not the normal sequences of an autopsy," *Pet.* at 8, nothing in the record before the trial court established that any person who lawfully dissects an organ has a duty to ensure that the dissected organ remains in a condition that would allow a complete second dissection, according to whatever standard that could involve. Moreover, the discretion afforded to the coroner by RCW 68.50.106 to "cause to be made an analysis of the stomach contents, blood, organs, or tissues of a deceased person and secure professional opinions thereon and retain or dispose of any specimens or organs of the deceased which in his or her discretion are desirable or needful for anatomic, bacteriological, chemical, or toxicological examination," would likely preclude a negligence claim in any case.⁷ In addition, the immunity provided to coroners and medical examiners in RCW 68.50.015

٠

⁶ Mr. Dahl does not explain how failing to retain a ligature, describe a ligature in the autopsy report, perform microscopic examinations, preserve additional tissue, take additional photographs, or wait for a toxicological analysis before completing her report could be actionable as misuse of a corpse. *Pet.* at 8-9. While such allegations may be relevant to a claim of professional negligence to the extent a defendant owed an actionable duty to an individual plaintiff, Mr. Dahl fails to identify any case where such allegations could support a claim for misuse of a corpse in any jurisdiction, let alone Washington.

⁷ As this Court recognized in *Adams*, RCW 68.50.106 would have allowed the medical examiner to retain an organ if there was "some compelling reason for further examination" related to the proper government purpose of the autopsy. *Adams*, 164 Wn.2d at 660.

would likely apply to claims of negligence based on their discretionary decisions in determining the cause and manner of death.⁸

2. The Court of Appeals properly concluded that Mr. Dahl did not identify evidence to raise a genuine issue of material fact for trial as to whether Dr. Fino intentionally misused a corpse by dissecting the brain.

Mr. Dahl claims, *Pet.* at 8-9, that Dr. Omalu's allegations of negligence attributed to Dr. Fino during her performance of the autopsy overall, taken together, raise an inference that she "intentionally mutilated" the brain. But, such an inference is not reasonable in this context and is not supported by the record in this case. As Division II correctly observed, nothing in the evidence submitted to the trial court, including Dr. Omalu's reports, suggested that Dr. Fino intentionally misused or mutilated the brain or body in any manner other than dissecting it. *Slip Op.* at 10. It was also undisputed that (1) Dr. Fino intentionally dissected the brain, (2) Dr. Fino had the statutory authority and discretion to dissect the brain without the consent of the family according to RCW 68.50.010, 68.50.100, 68.50.106, (3) dissection of the brain was an appropriate and necessary part of the investigation of the cause and manner of death, (4) Dr. Fino returned the

⁸ Although Division II did not address the application of RCW 68.50.015 to this case and no party is seeking review of that decision, the fact that the immunity provision exists weighs against expanding liability to negligent conduct.

⁹ Dr. Omalu never suggested that Dr. Fino should not have dissected the brain; he criticized her for failing to retain additional samples of the brain tissue. CP 366. In other words, Dr. Omalu suggested Dr. Fino should have returned less of the brain to the body for burial.

dissected brain to the body, and (5) Dr. Omalu conducted a second autopsy and reached the same conclusions regarding cause and manner of death as Dr. Fino. Unlike the circumstances in *Adams*, where the plaintiff stated a cause of action for intentional misuse use of a corpse by a medical examiner for conduct explicitly authorized by RCW 68.50.106 – retaining an organ – because it was done for an unauthorized purpose – donation for scientific research without a compelling need for further investigation related to the cause and manner of death, *see Adams*, 164 Wn.2d at 660; the circumstances here involve explicitly authorized conduct for an admittedly authorized purpose and no evidence of an unauthorized purpose. *Slip Op.* at 11.

Because Mr. Dahl fails to argue or establish that the unique circumstances of this case are likely to recur, specifically in light of the immunity provided by RCW 68.50.015 that may be applied in other cases, review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

3. Mr. Dahl fails to show any basis for overturning precedent as to the essential element of presence in claims for intentional or negligent infliction of emotional distress.

Mr. Dahl claims, *Pet.* at 12-14, that this Court's decision in *Reid v*. *Pierce County*, 136 Wn.2d 195, 961 P.2d 333 (1998), is "wrong." Relying on a single federal district court memorandum opinion, *K.N. v. Life Time Fitness, Inc.*, 2:16-cv-39, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 209661, 2018 WL 6505395 (D. Utah Dec. 11, 2018), Mr. Dahl suggests the adoption of

Restatement (Third) of Torts § 47 (2012) to eliminate the presence requirement for "specified categories of activities, undertakings, or relationships." *Pet.* at 12-13. Alternatively, Mr. Dahl suggests that this Court follow the West Virginia approach and adopt a "dead body exception" to the rule that "liability may not be predicated upon negligence where the damage is limited to mental or emotional disturbance without accompanying physical injury." *Pet.* at 13-14.

However, Mr. Dahl offers no analysis of the law of Utah, any other state that may have considered adoption of that restatement section, or West Virginia as to whether any of those jurisdictions had, like Washington, recognized a separate intentional tort of misuse of a corpse and had repeatedly refused to expand that tort to cover negligent conduct. *See Adams*, 164 Wn.2d at 656-60; *see also supra* Section V.B.1. Because Washington already recognizes a separate tort for claims of emotional distress caused by misuse of a corpse, there is no need to change more general torts or create new exceptions to them for such claims.

Moreover, Mr. Dahl offers no principled reason for treating claims for intentional or negligent infliction of emotional distress involving corpses differently than the claims involving injuries to living persons addressed in the cases upon which this Court relied in *Reid*, including *Schurk v. Christensen*, 80 Wn.2d 652, 656-57, 497 P.2d 937 (1972)

(precluding mother's outrage claim regarding molestation of her daughter), *Lund v. Caple*, 100 Wn.2d 739, 675 P.2d 226 (1984) (precluding husband's outrage claim based on sexual relationship of his wife), and *Gain v. Carroll Mill Co.*, 114 Wn.2d 254, 260-61, 787 P.2d 533 (1990) (precluding father's and brother's negligent infliction of emotional distress claim based on death of state trooper in car accident).

4. Mr. Dahl fails to show any basis for overturning precedent as to the public duty doctrine.

Mr. Dahl claims, *Pet.* at 20 & n.10, that the public duty doctrine "creates special immunities and privileges that directly contradict the legislature's broad waiver of sovereign immunity." But, he fails to offer any cogent explanation of this claim or why he believes that the decision of the Court of Appeals in this case is vulnerable to such a critique. As discussed above, *see supra* Section V.A., Division II, consistent with this Court's precedent, as well as both the lead and concurring opinions in *Munich*, simply used the public duty doctrine as a focusing tool to determine whether Mr. Dahl met his burden to show that Dr. Fino owed a duty to him as an individual, apart from the duty she owed to the general public to determine cause and manner of death by performing an autopsy under Coroner Stockwell's jurisdiction and statutory authority and at Mason County's expense. *Slip Op.* at 5-9.

5. The Court of Appeals properly concluded that Mr. Dahl did not identify evidence to raise a genuine issue of material fact for trial as to whether Dr. Fino owed a duty to him as an individual rather than the general public, a necessary element of his professional negligence claim.

Mr. Dahl claims, *Pet.* at 14-15, that the legal question of whether Dr. Fino owed Mr. Dahl an actionable duty depends on whether she is a "competent pathologist" under RCW 68.50.100. No authority supports this claim. And, it makes no sense. A lawsuit for professional negligence against Dr. Fino cannot be the proper forum to litigate whether Coroner Stockwell properly exercised his discretion under RCW 68.50.100 by appointing her.

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